
 

The Archivo General de Indias of Seville 

By Victoria Stapells 

 
ñé.the great Sevillian Archives is 

practically inexhaustible in its 

wealth of material on almost every 

conceivable subject in Spanish 

colonial administration and is the 

most valuable single archive on 

that field in existenceò 

Charles E. Chapman (1959) 

 

n the afternoon of October 14, 

1785, as the cathedral bells of 

Seville sounded a quarter to 

five, 24 mule-drawn carts arrived at the 

Casa Lonja de Mercaderes.  They had 

set out from the archives of Simancas, 

just outside Valladolid, in the north of 

Spain. They carried a most valuable 

cargo of 257 boxes protected with a 

covering of oilskins.  Inside were more 

than 20,000 kilos of documents dating 

back to the time of Columbus. The 

journey south had passed through 

Castilla La Mancha and once reaching 

Andalusia, the carts veered southwest to 

Seville.  

Located in the old quarter of the city and next to the 

cathedral, this building was destined to become the 

Archivo General de Indias.  Its 43,000 boxes of 

documents stored on more than 10 kilometers of shelves 

have inevitably linked the history of Spain and the 

Americas for all time. 

 

The Casa Lonja 

The origin of the Casa Lonja building goes back to 

the beginning of the 16
th
 century, when the merchants of 

Seville conducted their overseas commercial transactions 

just outside the cathedral.  One can imagine the 

disagreements that took place between the merchants   
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Notes from the Prez ï  
Steven Anthony  

 

There is something addictive about diving in 80 

degree water, with 80 feet of clear viz and surrounded by 

Florida's most beautiful and engaging marine life.  So, in 

June MAHS sent a team to the Florida Keys National 

Marine Sanctuary once again to work on the shipwreck 

site on Pickles Reef.  Under the guidance of Brenda 

Altmeier, NOAA Maritime Heritage Program 

Coordinator, and Matt Lawrence, NOAA Maritime 

Archaeologist, the MAHS team continued this year to 

collect detailed measurements of selected features that 

appear to be the remains of a metal sailing schooner.  

Adjacent to the wreck and strewn throughout the site is 

an array of cement barrels.  The objective is to hopefully 

identify the name of this wreck and contribute a site map 

for the Sanctuary archives.  

The Pickles Reef project also offers MAHS the 

opportunity to advance our study of 3D site survey 

techniques, which hold the prospect of more accurate 

and efficient site mapping capability.  Board member 

Dave Shaw has been spearheading this effort for MAHS 

and has also spent a considerable amount of time this 

year evaluating the various software solutions on the 

market. 

In August, MAHS invited all members and their 

guests to the annual MAHS picnic at Seneca Creek State 

Park in Maryland. It was a warm sunny day and MAHS 

Directors Dave Shaw and Dennis Knepper worked the 

grill as usual.  Everyone seemed to enjoy the opportunity 

to spend a lazy summer afternoon among friends. 

As summer waned and turned into fall, MAHS 

announced that its fall field school would be conducted 

on the Bodkin Point site in the Chesapeake Bay.  This 

field school is intended to introduce students to a 

shallow, cold water, zero-viz mapping experience on the 

remains of a 20
th
-century wooden-hulled schooner.  

Several problems occurred with the charter boat 

arrangements, so the field school was postponed to 

October 24 and 25.  That weekend the weather turned 

out to be cold and blustery, with the water whipped up 

by northeasterly winds. The conditions proved 

challenging for the class and served as a sound lesson in 

how difficult things can become when Mother Nature 

doesn't cooperate. 

As the year 2015 comes to a close MAHS members 

are working diligently in support of the annual 
conference of the Society of Historical Archaeology and 

Advisory Council for Underwater Archaeology (ACUA) 

which will be held in Washington, D.C., from January 6-

10, 2016.  MAHS will be involved in the ACUA Board 
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and the ecclesiastical authorities of the city.  The conflict 

was resolved during King Philip IIôs visit to Seville in 

1570.  He proposed that a merchant exchange be built 

near the cathedral esplanade.  Construction began in 

1583, with the cost covered by the derecho de Lonja tax, 

which was deducted from all goods leaving and arriving 

in Seville.  

The Casa Lonja construction was a complex and 

lengthy affair of fifty years, an exciting period for this 

bustling city, when fleets of galleons arrived from the 

Indies laden with rich cargos of silver, gold and pearls, 

grana cochineal and añil (red and blue dyes for textiles), 

cacao, tobacco and sugar.  From 1589 to 1717, 

for as long as the Indies trade was based in 

Seville on the banks of the Guadalquivir 

River, the Casa de Contratación (representing 

the crown) and the Consulado de Comercio 

(representing the merchants) controlled all  

commercial dealings from the Casa Lonja 

building. 

Founding of the Archivo General de Indias  

As of 1680, the city of Cádiz assumed an 

increasingly important role in the Indies trade. 

The gradual silting up of the Guadalquivir 

River and ever larger galleons made it 

difficult, and certainly dangerous, to cross the 

Sanlúcar sandbar at the mouth of the river. 

And thus by 1717, commercial activities had 

been moved from Seville to Cádiz and the 

Lonja fell into disuse. 

Toward the end of the 18
th
 century, the 

enlightened Bourbon King, Charles III, 

transformed the neglected Lonja into the sole 

repository for all the documentation related to

 the history of Spain in the New World.  Two men 

in particular were crucial for the founding of the 

Archivo General de Indias.  The first was the 

monarchôs Secretario de Indias, José de Gálvez.  

He visited the archives at Simancas in 1773 and saw 

for himself the disorder of the documents from the 

Americas.  Many of the Indies documents had been 

stored in Simancas since 1544, according to the 

Real Cédula of Emperor Charles V.  In this royal 

decree, issued on June 30 of that year, the Emperor 

had ordered that all documents and papers referring 

to ñIndiasò then filed in different offices of the 

Consejo were to be sent to Simancas.  Bundles of 

documents arrived there over the next century and a 

half, but the collection was far from complete.  

Gálvez knew that other Spanish cities also had 

colonial papers. 

Even more important was the King´s 

cosmographer and court chronicler, Juan Bautista 

Muñoz. This Valencian scholar was appointed by 

Charles III to travel throughout Spain and copy 

court documents, with the aim of writing a history of the 

Spanish colonies.  This opus was based on the original 

documents sent to and from the New World and was 

written as a reaction to the Scottish historian William 

Robertson, who in 1771 had written a most 

uncomplimentary ñhistoryò of the discovery and 

colonisation of the Americas by the Spaniards.  Muñoz 

rapidly became aware of the necessity to have all these 

documents brought together, and he insisted on Seville 

for reasons of safety and space. 

At first the documents in the newly founded 

archives were consulted by 

government officials, official 

Casa Lonja of the Archivo General de Indias, Seville.   

Photo by the author. 

Above:  Secretario de Indias, José 

de Galvez 

Right:  Juan Bautista Muñoz, cosmographer and court chronicler.   

Public domain images. 
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chroniclers of this period of Spanish history, diplomats, 

and other archivists.  Washington Irving was probably 

the first American to visit the archives when, in 1828-

1829, he studied the Columbus voyages.  Nonetheless, it 

was not until 1844 that the archives became accessible to 

outside researchers, and by the beginning of the 20
th
 

century academics and scholars from around the world 

became aware of this 

unique source of 

information.  A 

number of American 

scholars spent long 

periods of arduous 

research in the first 

two decades of the 

20
th
 century in order 

to put together 

catalogues which are 

seminal to the 

understanding of 

Spanish colonial 

history in California, 

the American 

Southwest, Florida, 

Louisiana, and Texas. 

These early American 

visitors to the 

archives included 

historians Charles 

Chapman, James A. Robertson, Herbert E. Bolton, 

Roscoe R. Hill, Charles Wilson, and Adolf Bandelier. 

In 1986, the Spanish Ministry of Culture, IBM 

Spain, and the Ramón Areces Foundation signed a joint 

research project to design and develop a complex 

computerized information system for the archives. Their 

aim was twofold:  to provide a system of easy access to 

the collection, and to document its conservation.  Some 

years before, Jesuit Father Charles O´Neill wrote that 

that the entire contents of the archives should be 

microfilmed. ñThe [Archivo General de Indias] is a 

repository that holds records necessary for the history of 

many nations from the 15
th
 to the 19

th
 centuries.ò 

The digitization process in the archivesðthe 

conservation and duplication of documentsðhas 

radically changed the nature and profile of the 

researcher.  Most spend only a limited amount of time in 

the reading room, only long enough to consult the data 

base of the collection and order copies of relevant 

documents.  Access to the archives is also possible over 

internet via PARES, the Portal de Archivo Españoles or 

Spanish Archive Portal.  This ongoing 21
st
 century 

project to digitize the archives can be seen as the 

culmination of King Charles IIIôs dream:  to bring 

together in one place all the administrative documents 

referring to the Indies. 

The Document Collection 

The collection of the Archivo General de Indias 

comprises the most important documents related to the 

discovery, conquest and colonisation of the Spanish 

overseas over the course of four centuries.  During its 

more than 200 years of history, the archives has 

continued to acquire documents from state collections or 

donations related to 

the New World and 

the Philippines.  

Among these is the 

private collection of 

General Camilio 

García de Polavieja, a 

Captain General of 

Cuba and the 

Philippines. 

To make more 

space for offices, 

meeting rooms and 

document restoration, 

the building on the 

south side of the Casa 

Lonja has become the 

reading room.  A 

subterranean tunnel 

links the two 

buildings under the 

narrow street through 

which the documents are pushed on trolleys.  The 

bundles (legajos), books, maps and objects are now 

stored on compact mobile metal storage shelves, 

although a visitor to the upper part of the main building 

can see how these bundles were originally kept in 

impressive book cases of Cuban mahogany. 

Historians at The ñMecca of Colonial Latin 

American Historyò 

In recent years up to 100,000 researchers have spent 

time in the reading room.   

Dr. John Tepaske, of Duke University, first came to 

Seville as a graduate student in 1956.  Immediately 

enthralled by the collection, he was also impressed by 

the reading room and the feeling of community among 

scholars from around the world.  He recalls that the 

American researchers were always waiting first on the 

steps to the front door before the archives opened.  At 11 

am sharp, these scholars, young and old, would leave in 

a group to have coffee together.  Tepaske returned 

throughout his academic life many times.  His last visit 

in 2006 was a nostalgic couple of months for the great 

historian. 

Dr. Eugene Lyon feels a special affinity to the 17
th
 

century bronze cannon which stands at the entrance to  

  

Summary of the cargo aboard the squadron of General D. Andrés Reggio 

that left Havana on May 13, 1749.  A.G.I. MP. Varios, 23. 



MAHSNEWS  Fall 2015 5 

the archives reminding us daily that past meets present. 

The cannonôs last voyage to the Indies was aboard the 

Nuestra Señora de la Atocha, which wrecked off Florida 

in a hurricane in 1622.  Dr. Lyon was responsible for 

researching the story, and after the galleon was salvaged, 

he ensured that the cannon returned to its port of 

departure.  There it proudly stands, close to the register 

in which it is recorded in bundle 1,144 of the Indiferente 

General, the section of the archives containing 

miscellaneous materials.  The story of the treasure and 

lengthy salvage of the Atocha by Mel Fisher is well 

known.  However, Lyon insists that the real treasure 

from the Indies was not under water. Rather, it is safely 

kept within the documents: ñThis is truly the cultural 

richness of Spain in the Indies.ò  

Victoria Stapells has researched in the Archivo General 

de Indias since 1977.  She arrived as a graduate student 

with basic historical tools but with no training in reading 

early 16
th
-century documents.  A course in Spanish 

palaeography at the University of Seville equipped her to 

embark on a career of more than thirty years of research 

for academics, institutions, libraries, and the media.  She 

has never lost the thrill of opening a new bundle of 

documents.  Tightly bound accounts secured with 

crimson ribbon; correspondence held together with rusty 

pins; illegible water stained papersðmany of these give 

the impression of never having been read.  Among her 

favorite ñdiscoveries,ò she recalls finding a map showing 

the location of an 18
th
-century shipwreck in the 

Philippines; a fine, ink drawing of a 16
th
-century Andean 

musician; and a love poem written at the end of an early 

17
th
-century ship manifest dated at Veracruz. Î  

 

The documentation of the Archivo de Indias is divided into 
16 sections as follows: Name, number of bundles, and 
outside time span. The numbers of bundles and time period 
covered in each section are part of an ongoing process of 
cataloguing.   

I: PATRONATO (307 bundles)  
 1480-1790 

Created at the time of the archives, these documents were 
considered particularly valuable and narrate the conquest and first 
discovery period.  

II: CONTADURIA (2,126 bundles) 
 1510-1778 
 Treasury records 

III: CONTRATACIÓN (6,301 bundles) 
 1492-1795   

Shipping and commercial documents, maritime legislation, economic 
history.  

IV: JUSTICIA (1,207 bundles) 
 1515-1617 

Law suits 

V: GOBIERNO (18,714 bundles) 
 1492-1854 

The 14 Audiencias (seats of local government) plus a miscellaneous 
series -Indiferente General made up the different geographical areas 
in the colonies.  Official correspondence: Viceroys, government and 
ecclesiastical officials.     

VI: ESCRIBANÍA DE CÁMARA (2,864 bundles) 
 1525-1761  

Law suits  

VII: ARRIBADAS (648 bundles) 
 1711-1823 

Maritime and economic history. Crown correspondence 

VIII: CORREOS (895 bundles) 
 1763-1846.  

Correspondence, legislation, maps and drawings.   

IX:  ESTADO (110 bundles) 
 1700-1836 

Audiencia material for Mexico and the Philippines.  

X: ULTRAMAR (1,013 bundles) 
 1606-1870 

Audiencia material largely for the late 18th and 19th centuries.   

XI: PAPELES DE CUBA (2,956 bundles) 
 1585-1857 

Cuban documents as of 1750.  

XII: CONSULADOS (3,158 bundles and books) 
 1543-1857 

Merchant Guilds, primarily Seville and Cádiz 

XIII: TÍTULOS DE CASTILLA (14 bundles) 
 18th-19th centuries  

Titles 

XIV: TRIBUNAL DE CUENTAS (2,751 bundles) 
 1851-1887  

Treasury records 

XV: DIVERSOS (48 bundles) 
 1439-1898  

Miscellaneous  

In addition, the archives contain nearly 4,000 maps and drawings, 
and 2,500 objects including flags, textiles, stamps, coins, Papal 
Bulls, and genealogical charts.   

 
 

 

Interior of the Casa Lonja of the Archivo General de Indias, 

Seville.  Photo by the author. 
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Stormvogel, the Last Sail-Powered Freight Hauler in Bonaire 

by François van der Hoeven and Patrick Holian

 
he 45-foot sloop Stormvogel, the 

last of the sailing freight haulers 

built in Bonaire, was recently 

rescued from a back bay in Curaçao 

where it had been abandoned as derelict.  

As part of a major preservation effort, the 

vessel has returned to its home island for 

restoration to its original appearance. 

Bonaire was at one time the center 

of a small but important boat building 

industry in the southern Caribbean.  

Shipping has always been critical to the 

life of the Caribbean islands, and for most 

of the historical period, vessels plying the 

island trade have been sailing ships.  Salt, 

aloe, wood, and livestock were exported 

from Bonaire, in return for a variety of 

commodities not available on the island.  

The vessels working among the islands 

also carried people, packages, and mail, and in so doing 

they helped maintain connections between families and 

friends in an era when isolation was a constant part of 

life.  The trading boats were thus central to the cultural 

as well as economic well-being of the islands.  

The name Stormvogel is from the Dutch for storm 

birdðthe petrel or stormy petrel, a species of small, 

pelagic sea bird, and thus an appropriate name for a boat 

continually braving the open oceans.  Stormvogel was 

built in 1951 by shipwright Etchi Craane on the 

waterfront of Playa Pabou, north of Bonaireôs capital 

and main port, Kralendijk.  The sloop was constructed 

for Martinus Ramon Felida, a sea captain who used it 

initially to haul propane tanks between Curaçao and 

Bonaire at a time when the refilling of tanks was only 

done on the larger 

island.  Stormvogel was 

a cutter-rigged sailing 

boat, with a single mast 

and a bowsprit, the latter 

securing two headsails.  

This type of boat was 

known regionally as a 

balandra and was 

popular for small 

commercial vessels in 

the area. 

Stormvogel was 

considered a fast sailer, 

sailing well when close- 

hauled.  Felida had the 

vessel painted black to 

 

set it apart from other balandras in the area.  Legend has 

it that when another skipper painted his balandra black, 

Felida ópersuadedô the man to change to another color.   

Seventy-nine-year-old Lucio Soliano was a 

deckhand on Stormvogel and recalled the variety of 

cargo hauled by the vessel.  In one instance, they 

transported live goats:  ñWe would load between 80 and 

90 goats and deliver them to Curaçao.  We would put as 

many as we could below deck and tie the rest above 

deck.  With a crew of five, it was pretty crowded.ò 

In the 1960s, the vesselôs mast and bowsprit were 

removed and a diesel engine and deck house added.  A 

fiberglass shell was also fixed on the exterior of the hull. 

 

tormvogel was recently found by the senior author, 

abandoned and deteriorating in Macola Bay, one of 

the many small bays in the extensive interior of 

Willemstad harbor.  The Fundashon Patrimonio 

Marítimo Boneiru (Bonaire Maritime Heritage 

Foundation) was established to oversee conservation and 

restoration of the boat to its original condition. The 

foundation secured legal ownership of the vessel from 

the Felida family and began fundraising efforts.  The 

latter has resulted in numerous contributions of money, 

time, and in-kind donations.  Local and international 

foundations and commercial entities have provided 

funds.   Storage space, shipyard workspace, and hauling 

and shipping servicesðincluding transporting the boat 

from Curaçao to Bonaire aboard a local freighterðhave 

been donated at little or no cost.  And a small army of 

volunteers in Curaçao and Bonaire has contributed labor 

and expertise along the way. 

T 

S 

Captain Martinus Felida   

Photographer unknown. 

Stormvogel moored in Curaçao.  Photo by M. van Veldhoven. 
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The vessel was in poor condition when it was 

found.  Cleanup began in Curaçao in November 2014 

and continued through the following January.  Stripped 

to its original core, the boat was transported to Bonaire, 

arriving in late March 2015.  It was transported to a new 

shipyard, where a cradle was constructed to support the 

hull during the refurbishing.  Additional demolition and 

cleaning were carried out, and then the process of 

reconstructing the boat began and has continued through 

the summer and fall of 2015. 

The original Bonaire shipwrights built by eye, using 

experience and intuition to guide their design.  But now 

the projectôs consulting  shipwright, Bruce Halabisky, 

has carefully measured the boat and generated a 3-D 

model of the hull, producing what are believed to be the 

first-ever plans of a Bonaire-built vessel.   

Brass hardware along the rails was removed, to be 

cleaned and reinstalled on the ship toward the end of the 

restoration.  Other repairs, however, have been 

considerably more extensive.  The fiberglass shell was 

stripped from the exterior of the hull, allowing 

assessment of hull planking and frames for water 

damage or rot.  The boat had been lifted by crane five 

times in six months during various transfers and 

preliminary work.  Despite the best efforts of the team, 

the lifts took their toll.  The hull developed a noticeable 

twist amidships, seen particularly on the port side where 

the frames were already damaged and the deck had 

separated, threatening the structural integrity of the 

entire vessel.  The team reinforced the inside of the hull 

on the intact starboard side and then jacked up the 

damaged port side area until it matched the starboard 

side.   

Much of the port side framing was either missing or 

not salvageable and needed to be replaced.  To replicate 

the framing pattern on that side of the hull, a form was

made of each starboard frame and the corresponding port 

frame was cut as a mirror image.  New frames are being 

fashioned from kui, the wood used in the original 

construction.  A type of mesquite, kui is still abundant 

on the island.  Most of the wood to be used in the 

reconstruction is taken from trees already cut down for 

development projects on the island.  When necessary, 

live trees are harvested sustainably, with only a few 

branches taken.   

 

ublic outreach is a major part of the restoration 

project.  Complete photographic and video 

documentation of the project is being conducted, and a 

Facebook weblog is regularly updated.  Interviews have 

been held with old timers, including sailors and boat 

builders from the island, for insights into construction 

techniques and stories about the vessel itself.  The 

anecdote from Lucio Soliano about hauling goats 

resulted from one such interview.  A short film about 

Stormvogel and Bonaire's maritime history is also being 

produced, with Bonaireans including Ismael Soliano, 

Stormvogel's captain over a period of four years, 

appearing in some of the roles. 

An exciting part of the outreach effort is the Junior 

Shipwright program, which includes lectures on nautical 

heritage presented by visiting shipwright consultants and 

by the noted Bonaire historian, Bòi Antoin.  A 10-hour 

course for students allows them to experience working 

alongside local boat builders.  One of the latest 

fundraising efforts is the Adopt-A-Rib program.  For a 

contribution of $50, one of the new hull frames will be 

inscribed with the donorôs name prior to installation.

P 

A balandra-type vessel under sail. 

Photo by E.A. Wegman. 

Volunteers harvesting kui wood for new frames.  

Photo by P. Holian. 


